STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
APR 24 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RALPH MARTIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000311

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in admitting in evidence a recording of statements made by Appellant's wife when the State failed to lay the proper foundation for admission pursuant to Rule 613(b) SCRE?

2. Did the trial judge err in admitting in evidence a written statement made by Appellant's wife when the wife admitted to making the statement but at trial testified that she could not remember the contents of the statement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October of 2014, the Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Martin for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, indictment #2014-GS-18-0851. On February 10, 2015, Martin proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Maite Murphy. Pierce Wehman and John Loy represented Martin at trial. Glenn Justice and Kyle Ward prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty. Judge Murphy sentenced Martin to ten years suspended upon the service of nine years and eleven months with probation to follow for four years. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on February 12, 2015. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 1, 2014, at approximately 9:15 PM Richard Stevens called 911 to report a domestic disturbance at a neighbor's house. (R. p. 10, line 10 – p. 11, lines 1-6; p. 74, lines 3-24). Deputy Jarrod Powell with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Department responded to the 911 call. When he arrived he heard a woman screaming inside the residence. (R. p. 75, lines 8-17). Deputy Powell testified that when he announced his presence, the woman said, "Come in and help me." (R. p. 75, lines 20-23). Before Deputy Powell had a chance to enter the house, Becky Martin, Appellant's wife, opened the door. (R. p. 77, lines 1-4). The Appellant, Ralph Martin, was standing 20 feet behind her. (R. p. 77, lines 7-10). According to Deputy Powell, Becky Martin had a red mark on the side of her neck. (R. p. 77, lines 11-15). Deputy Powell placed Appellant in handcuffs and put him in the back of the patrol car. (R. p. 77, line 24 – p. 78, lines 1-18). Deputy Powell wore a body microphone on the night in question and portions of the audio were admitted, over objection, in evidence at trial as State's Exhibit #4 and played for the jury.

Deputy Carlin Strickland, also with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Department, arrived at the residence and interviewed Becky Martin. (R. p. 53, lines 4-25). Ms. Martin provided a written statement that was admitted, over objection, in evidence at trial as State's Exhibit #5. (R. p. 63, lines 2-3). Becky Martin was called as a State's witness at trial. Ms. Martin admitted making the statement but testified that she did not remember the content. (R. p. 18, line 2 – p. 19, lines 1-13).

Appellant, Ralph Martin, is a Vietnam Veteran who suffers from post traumatic stress disorder. (R. p. 129, lines 2-18). At sentencing Becky martin asked the judge to order treatment rather than prison time for her husband. (R. p. 132, lines 14-21). Instead, the judge sentenced Appellant to ten years suspended upon the service of nine years and eleven months with probation to follow for four years.

ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred in admitting in evidence a recording of statements made by Appellant's wife when the State failed to lay the proper foundation for admission pursuant to Rule 613(b) SCRE.

Deputy Powell was the first officer to arrive at the house. He wore a body microphone on the night in question and at trial the State moved to admit portions of the audio in evidence. (R. p. 44, line 23 – p. 45, 46, line 1-25). The audio includes statements made by Appellant's wife, Becky Martin, who had already testified at trial. Appellant objected to the admission of the audio. (R. p. 47, lines 4-23). Appellant also renewed his previous objection to the admission of a written statement by Ms. Martin and that argument is addressed in issue number two below. Appellant further argued, "And secondly, extrinsic evidence of a statement that she made is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made and the person to whom it was made. And that's State v. Galloway, which is still good law in South Carolina." (R. p. 47, lines 18-23). The judge, relying on State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 591 S.E.2d 632, (Ct. App. 2003), overruled the objection. The judge stated, "So based upon that, I think it's clearly – it goes to being offered that the witness told a different story at the time, not for the truth of the matter asserted, so I think the witness's statement does come in, as does the oral statements, because statements can be either oral or written so I think you're free to proceed on those grounds." (R. p. 49, line 25 – p. 50, lines 1-5). The audio was admitted in evidence, over objection, as State's Exhibit #4 and played for the jury. (R. p. 84, line 22 – p. 85, lines 1-16). The trial judge erred in admitting the audio of the body microphone.

Rule 613(b), SCRE, provides, "Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the

opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible.” The audio from the body microphone worn by Deputy Powell is extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement made by Becky Martin. Pursuant to Rule 613(b), the audio was inadmissible unless the State established the proper foundation. The State failed to lay the proper foundation. The State failed to advise Ms. Martin of the substance of the oral statements heard on the audio, the time and place the statements were allegedly made and the person to whom the statement was made. Additionally, the State did not allow Ms. Martin the opportunity to explain or deny the statements heard on the audio. The State’s argument in regard to the written statement provided to Deputy Strickland and addressed in issue two below does not carry over to the oral statements heard on the audio from the body microphone worn by Deputy Powell. The trial judge erred in admitting the audio without the proper foundation.

Becky Martin was called as a witness by the State. When asked what she told the police when they arrived, Ms. Martin testified, “I don’t remember. I don’t remember anything from that night.” (R. p. 17, lines 22-24). Ms. Martin testified that she remembered Deputy Powell being at the house on the night in question. (R. p. 19, lines 14-23). The prosecutor, however, never asked Ms. Martin about the statements allegedly made to Deputy Powell and heard on the audio.

The trial judge’s reliance on Blalock is misplaced because the issue in Blalock involved whether the witness unequivocally admitted making the prior inconsistent statement. In Blalock this Court wrote:

In determining whether a witness has admitted making a prior inconsistent statement and thereby obviated the need for extrinsic proof, the courts of our state and other jurisdictions have held that the witness must admit making the prior statement unequivocally and without qualification. See State v. Bottoms, 260 S.C.

187, 194, 195 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1973) (when a witness admits unequivocally that a prior inconsistent statement has been made by him, he has thereby impeached himself and further evidence is unnecessary and inadmissible); 98 C.J.S. Witnesses 727 (2002) (stating admission must be unequivocal).

Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 635. The question in regard to the statements heard on the audio in the present case did not involve whether Ms. Martin unequivocally admitted making the prior statements. Ms. Martin neither admitted nor denied making the statements heard on the audio as she was not asked about these statements. The State failed to lay the proper foundation for admission.

In State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court wrote:

The South Carolina rule differs from the federal rule in that a proper foundation must be laid before admitting a prior inconsistent statement. It is mandatory that a witness be permitted to admit, deny, or explain a prior inconsistent statement. Under Rule 613(b), extrinsic evidence of the statement is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made. Rule 613(b) explicates the procedure for impeachment by a prior inconsistent statement and requires laying the foundation. See State v. Sierra, 337 S.C. 368, 523 S.E.2d 187 (Ct.App.1999).

In McLeod this Court found that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in excluding testimony in regard to a prior inconsistent statement due to the failure to provide a sufficient foundation. In the present case the trial judge abused his discretion in allowing the audio when the State failed to provide a sufficient foundation for admission.

2. The trial judge erred in admitting in evidence a written statement made by Appellant's wife when the wife admitted to making the statement but at trial testified that she could not remember the contents of the statement.

In addition to the recorded statements discussed above in issue one, the State also moved to admit a written statement Becky Martin provided to Deputy Strickland on the night in question. (R. p. 43, lines 8 – p. 44, lines 1-15). The State relied on Rule 613(b) SCRE and State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 702 S.E.2d 395 (Ct. App. 2010). Appellant objected and argued that Ms. Martin was not given the opportunity to admit or deny the content of the written statement. (R. p. 42, line 8 – p. 43, lines 1-6). The State responded stating, “She [Ms. Martin] looked at the entire statement, both pages; the time and place it was allegedly made, we did cover that with her; and the person to whom it was made, we said Deputy Strickland, given the opportunity to explain or deny it. Her explanation was she didn’t remember. She didn’t say she didn’t make the statement; she didn’t say she did. She said, “I don’t remember. It’s my handwriting, but I don’t remember.” (R. p. 43, lines 14-22). The judge overruled the objection stating, “Pursuant to Rule 613, a witness’s own out-of-court statement is hearsay if offered for its truth. However, when a witness’s prior inconsistent statement is offered for impeachment, however, it’s being offered merely to show the witness told a different story at a different time, so it’s admissible.” (R. p. 44, lines 16-21).

The trial judge heard further argument in regard to Ms. Martin’s written statement and then stated, “The Court’s recollection of her testimony was that she was given the statement. She indicated that it was her handwriting on the date in question, which was July 1st. She also stated that it was her signature. Her testimony, however, was not unequivocal admission that she made the statement, said it was her writing, but she doesn’t remember making the contents of the statement.” (R. p. 49, lines 2-8). The judge, again relying on State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 591

S.E.2d 632, (Ct. App. 2003), ruled that the written statement was admissible. (R. p. 49, line 9 – p. 50, lines 1-5).

When the State moved to admit the written statement as State's Exhibit #5 (R. p. 63, lines 2-3), Appellant objected stating, "Your Honor, we would object. I would renew my previous motion. Also, we would argue that foundation hasn't been laid at this point. It's not consistent or inconsistent." (R. p. 63, lines 5-8). The judge overruled the objection, admitted the written statement and the statement was published for the jury. (R. p. 63, lines 9-14). The trial judge erred.

During trial Becky Martin testified as follows:

Q. And what did you tell police when they arrived?

A. I don't remember. I don't remember anything from that night.

Q. Okay. Do you remember giving a written statement to police that evening?

A. No. I mean, I remember writing, but I don't remember what I wrote or why.

Q. So you don't recall giving a written statement to Deputy Strickland that evening?

A. No, sir.

Q. I'm showing you what's been marked as State's Exhibit 5. Do you recognize it? Please take a moment to look at it. Do you recognize that?

A. Yes, that's my handwriting.

Q. Okay.

A. But I don't remember what these questions were that I answered. I don't remember that.

Q. So you remember making a statement, but you don't remember - -

A. Yes.

Q. -- the content of the statement?

A. No.

Q. Would that be a fair --

A. Yes.

Q. -- statement to say?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 17, lines 22 - p. 18, lines 1-22). Contrary to the State's argument, Ms. Martin remembered making the statement but simply did not remember the content of the statement. Ms. Martin confirmed that the statement was dated July 1st, was in her handwriting and her signature appeared on the bottom. (R. p. 18, lines 23 – p. 19, lines 1-8). When asked if reading the statement would refresh her memory about what she told the police on the night in question, Ms. Martin responded, "No." (R. p. 19, lines 9-13). The State failed to ask any further questions of Ms. Martin in regard to the written statement. Critically, the State never asked her if she made the statement.

The present case is distinguished from Blalock, the case relied upon by the trial judge. In Blalock a State's witness, upon being asked about a prior statement, was declared hostile pursuant to Rule 607, SCRE and then the State attempted to impeach the witness with her prior statement. The State then sought to introduce extrinsic evidence of the prior inconsistent statement pursuant to Rule 613(b) SCRE. As discussed above, the issue in Blalock involved whether the witness unequivocally admitted making the prior inconsistent statement. This Court in Blalock wrote:

In this case, we find Ms. Blalock's response, when confronted with her prior statement, does not meet the standard of a clear and unequivocal admission that

the precedent case law demands. We are mindful that, towards the end of the solicitors examination of Ms. Blalock regarding the statement, she does admit that she said the portion of the statement quoted. She is adamant throughout her testimony, however, that the statement as recorded by the detective was incomplete. As demonstrated in the excerpted testimony above, Ms. Blalock repeatedly insists that she did not merely say she saw her husbands hand on Janes backside, but that she saw his hand on the back side of her leg. When the solicitor presses her on when and to whom she said back side of her leg, Ms. Blalock testifies that she feel[s] like that is what she told Detective Lindsey at the time he took her statement. Ultimately, she equivocates as to whether the statement was in fact her own words, testifying that she may have been unclear or that Detective Lindsey had paraphrased what she said.

State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 80-81, 591 S.E.2d 632, 636 (Ct. App. 2003).

In the present case the State failed to declare Ms. Martin hostile pursuant to Rule 607, SCRE and failed to attempt to impeach Ms. Martin with her prior statement. Pursuant to Rule 613(b), if the State had asked Ms. Martin if she made the written statement and Ms. Martin stated that she did not remember **making** the statement, then the State could have properly moved to admit the prior written statement as extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement. The State, however, failed to ask the critical question in order to lay the proper foundation. Unlike the witness in Blalock, Ms. Martin was not confronted with her prior statement. Ms. Martin's statement that she did not remember the content of her statement, standing alone, is not sufficient to establish the foundation required to admit the prior written statement. The State should have confronted her with the content of her statement so that she could either admit or deny. Contrary to the State's argument, simply showing the statement to the witness does not constitute confronting the witness and advising the witness of the substance of the statement as required by Rule 613(b).


The present case is also distinguished from State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 702 S.E.2d 395 (Ct. App. 2010). In Moses the witness did not remember making the prior inconsistent statement and the State properly introduced extrinsic evidence of the prior inconsistent statement. In

contrast, in the present case Ms. Martin did not testify that she did not remember making the statement.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above arguments, Appellants conviction and sentence should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.