ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000311

RECEIVED

JUN 01 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RALPH MARTIN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 79818

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main Street, Suite 102
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly admitted a written statement by Victim into evidence because the State laid the proper foundation pursuant to Rule 613(b), SCRE, and Victim did not unequivocally admit she wrote the statement. (Appellant's Issue #2).

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting Victim's written statement because she did not have the opportunity to admit or deny its content. (Br. App: 13). However, the State presented Victim with a copy of her written statement and she was given an opportunity to read over the content of the statement. Still, she consistently denied recalling the content. Thus, the trial court properly admitted the written statement pursuant to Rule 613, SCRE.

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. **If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible.** However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible.

Rule 613(b), SCRE (emphasis added). It is uncontested that Victim was advised of the time, place, and to whom the written statement was made.

Q. So you don't recall **giving a written statement to Deputy Strickland that evening?**

A. No, sir.

Q. I'm showing you what has been marked as State's Exhibit 5. Do you recognize it? Please take a moment to look at it. Do you recognize that?

A. Yes, that's my handwriting.

(R. 18, lines 4–10) (emphasis added). After the solicitor asked her to take a moment to look at the statement, she stated she did not remember “what these questions were that I answered” and she did not remember the content. (R. 18, lines 7–22). This testimony demonstrates Victim’s knowledge of the substance of the statement by her ability to assert she did not remember it. Further, her comment on the questions shows she did review the statement when asked to look at it.

While the copy of the written statement was in front of Victim, the State asked, “Would it help if you read this to refresh your memory about what you told police that night?” (R. 19, lines 9-10). She simply answered, “No.” (R. 19, line 11). However, Victim had already been sufficiently presented with the substance of her written statement as required by Rule 613(b), SCRE, because although she denied remembering the content of her statement and she declined to refresh her memory, the State provided her with a copy of the statement and gave her an opportunity to read it. And as addressed above, her testimony demonstrates she actually took the opportunity to read over the statement, at the very least enough to read the questions the officer asked her and to conclude she did not remember the content.

Further, Victim did not unequivocally admit she made the written statement. Evidence of prior inconsistent statements is inadmissible when the witness admits “making the prior statement unequivocally and without qualification.” State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 80, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003). See 98 C.J.S. *Witnesses* § 727 (2012) (stating admission must be unequivocal).

Generally, where the witness has responded with anything less than an unequivocal admission, trial courts have been

granted wide latitude to allow extrinsic evidence proving the statement. For example, **a witness's failure to fully recall her prior statement has been found to be a sufficient denial to allow extrinsic evidence.**

Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636 (emphasis added) (citing State v. Brown, 296 S.C. 191, 193, 371 S.E.2d 523, 524 (1988)). “Extrinsic evidence is also usually admitted when the witness simply avoids any direct answer.” Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636. Similarly, extrinsic evidence is admissible to impeach a witness when the witness merely testifies that he does not remember, or has no recollection of, making the statements presented. State v. Miller, 262 S.C. 369, 371, 204 S.E.2d 738, 738-39 (1974).

If the witness neither directly admit [sic] nor deny [sic] the act or declaration, as when he merely says that he does not recollect, or, as it seems, gives any other indirect answer not amounting to an admission, it is competent for the adversary to prove the affirmative, for **otherwise the witness might in every such case exclude evidence of what he had done or said by answering that he did not remember.**

Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636 (emphasis added) (quoting State v. Sullivan, 43 S.C. 205, 211, 21 S.E. 4, 7 (1895)).

Here, Victim failed to recall her prior statement. When asked if she recognized the statement, she answered, “Yes, that’s my handwriting. . . . But I don’t remember what these questions were that I answered. I don’t remember that.” (R. 18, lines 10–13). Upon clarification by the State, Victim reiterated she remembered making a statement but did not remember the content of the statement. (R. 18, lines 14–18). Thus, under the circumstances, the trial court correctly admitted the statement because Victim’s difficulty recalling the statement does not amount to an “unequivocal admission.”

Assuming, *arguendo*, this Court finds the State insufficiently advised Victim of

the content of her statement under Rule 613(b), SCRE, by providing her with a copy, the trial court, nonetheless, properly admitted the written statement. During the State's direct examination, Victim was uncooperative and clearly became an adverse witness. It would have been fruitless for the State to ask her to admit or deny her statements because she reiterated numerous times that she did not remember what she told police, stated that she did not remember anything from that night, and refused to refresh her memory. (R. p.17, lines 23-24; R. 19, lines 9-13). Therefore, the trial court did not err in admitting Victim's written statement because, as in Blalock, exclusion of this extrinsic evidence would allow Victim to avoid impeachment by merely stating she did not remember her prior statement. See Blalock, 357 S.C. at 80, 591 S.E.2d at 636 (allowing extrinsic evidence when witness does not recollect or gives other indirect answer not amounting to an admission or denial because "otherwise the witness might in every such case exclude evidence of what she had done or said by answering that he did not remember"); see also State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 522-23, 702 S.E.2d 395, 406 (Ct. App. 2010) (recognizing the wide latitude granted to trial courts to allow extrinsic evidence when a witness is unable to recall or remember a previous statement).

II.

The trial court properly admitted Victim's recorded statements because the State laid the proper foundation when Deputy Powell authenticated the audio recording, the recorded statements were not hearsay, and they were cumulative evidence of her written statements and therefore were harmlessly admitted. (Appellant's Issue #1).

Appellant argues the trial court improperly admitted the audio recording from Deputy Powell's body microphone because the State failed to lay the proper foundation pursuant to Rule 613(b), SCRE. However, at trial the only objection to the recording was based on hearsay, and the trial court ruled it was not hearsay because it was not offered "for the truth of the matter asserted." Appellant raised no specific objection to the recording on the basis of Rule 613(b), SCRE, and, thus, the argument is not preserved. Additionally, the audio recording was cumulative to Victim's written statements, which were properly admitted earlier in the trial, and thus any possible error in the admission of the recording was harmless. Therefore, the trial court correctly admitted the audio recording over Appellant's hearsay objection.

According to American Jurisprudence, audio recordings today "have almost universal approval as an acceptable form of evidence providing a proper foundation is first established for their admission." 23 Am. Jur. 3d *Proof of Facts* § 315 (1993). "Foundation" in terms of audio recordings refers to the preliminary questions asked of a witness that establish their admissibility. *Id.* Before introducing any audio recording as evidence, the proponent is required to "lay a foundation" through a properly qualified witness. *Id.* Thus, the "first requirement for introducing a [] recording is that a foundation must be laid demonstrating that the [recording] is authentic and correct." *Id.*

“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted” in the statement. Rule 801(c), SCRE. “Hearsay is not admissible” unless an exception applies, or “as provided by . . . other rules . . . or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE. See Rule 803(1), SCRE (defining present sense impression as “a statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter”); Rule 803(2), SCRE (defining excited utterance as “a statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition”). State v. Hendricks, 408 S.C. 525, 530, 759 S.E.2d 434, 437 (Ct. App. 2014).

First, Appellant’s argument on appeal that a proper foundation was not laid pursuant to Rule 613(b), SCRE, was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Rather, Appellant’s argument as to Rule 613(b), SCRE, involved only the written statement, not the audio recording. It seems appellate counsel conflates the part of the trial where Appellant renewed his previous objection as to the written statement with an argument regarding the recording. (R. 47, line 12–R. 48, line 12). However, a plain reading of the record shows the only objection involving the audio recording was based on hearsay. Thus, Appellant’s argument that the audio recording was lacking a foundation under Rule 613(b), SCRE, is not preserved for review. To the extent Appellant did sufficiently object to a lack of proper foundation for the audio recording, the State did lay a proper foundation when it had Detective Powell authenticate the recording by testifying it was a fair and accurate representation of what took place on the night in question. Detective Powell testified his department’s policy is to carry a body microphone (mic) at all times

so that it can audio record what officers are saying and what is going on during an investigation. (R. 82, line 23–R. 83, line 3). He testified he was wearing his body mic the night of the incident involving Appellant and Victim and that the body mic recorded the investigation. (R. 83, lines 4–11). He then identified State’s Exhibit #4 as a CDR recording of the incident. (R. 83, lines 12–25). Detective Powell verified he watched and listened to the recording and testified it was a fair and accurate representation of the events of the evening. (R. 84, lines 1–10). He confirmed that the audio recording included statements from Victim about what occurred that evening. (R. 85, lines 3–6).

Second, the trial court’s ruling that the statements included in the audio recording were not hearsay was correct. Because the recording was offered to show the inconsistency between what Victim said the night of the incident and what she said at trial, it was not offered for the “truth of the matter asserted” and, thus, was not hearsay. As the trial court noted, the recording of Victim’s statements was “being offered [to show] that the witness told a different story at the time, not for the truth of the matter asserted.” (R. 50, lines 1–2). However, if this Court determines the recording somehow constitutes hearsay, the State submits it could still be admitted under two hearsay exceptions: present sense impression and excited utterance. See Rule 803(1), SCRE (defining present sense impression as “a statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter”); Rule 803(2), SCRE (defining excited utterance as “a statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition”).

Finally, the audio recording of the incident was cumulative to Victim’s written

statement given to police that same night, which was already admitted. In South Carolina, our appellate courts have consistently held that a trial court's decision to admit evidence of a witness's prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 225, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981); State v. Sierra, 337 S.C. 368, 373, 523 S.E.2d 187, 189 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding appellant must show both abuse of discretion and resulting prejudice). This Court has held an "[e]rror is harmless where it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial." State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008). Appellate courts will generally not set aside convictions based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Thus, an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is harmless when guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Kirton, 381 S.C. at 37, 671 S.E.2d at 122 (citing State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989)). "The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other properly admitted evidence." Id. "Cumulative evidence has repeatedly been defined to be additional evidence of the same kind to the same point." State v. Funderburke, 251 S.C. 536, 164 S.E.2d 309 (1968).

Here, even though one statement was verbal and the other was written, they are evidence of the same kind because they are both statements from and about the same incident. Furthermore, the recorded statements merely tended to show what had already been established by the written statement. Both statements tended to prove, at the very least, Victim's fear and the abuse she endured on the night in question. The statements were introduced to show inconsistency with Victim's trial testimony. Accordingly,

introduction of the recorded statements was harmless because it did not reasonably affect the result of the trial. Even absent the recorded statements, Appellant's guilt had already been conclusively proven through witness testimony (including neighbor Richard Stevens who saw and heard a disturbance concerning enough to call the police), multiple photographs of Victim's injuries, Victim's statements and behavior at the scene (including calling for Deputy Powell to come and help her when he announced his presence), and Victim's written statement. Likewise, the inconsistencies between her trial testimony and her prior statement were shown by the written statement. Thus, this Court should not set aside Appellant's conviction even if it finds the trial court erred in admitting the recorded statement because the admission did not affect the result. Admission of the audio recorded statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.